I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF CASE 

Appellant Margaret Briscoe (Margaret) was asked by her nephew, 

Victor Greer, to inspect and confirm that Greer's townhouse rented to 

Respondent Randall McWilliams (Randall), had been vacated as reported 

by Randall to Greer. When she entered the premises, she had no reason to 

suspect that she would be attacked and mauled by a pit-bull, Jersey, owned 

by McWilliams' brother Leviticus (Levi) who was then staying and 

working on the premises in Randall's employment 

Margaret sued Randall on a number of theories, three of which are 

before this Court: 

1. Respondeat superior, claiming that Levi was acting within 

the scope of his employment as the agent for Randall when he 

left the townhouse he was cleaning to obtain additional 

cleaning supplies, leaving his guard dog Jersey unleashed 

inside the townhouse. Complaint ~ 18. (CP 4.) 

2. Premises liability, claiming that both Randall and his 

agent/employee had created an unsafe condition on the 

premises, to wit, the presence of a pit-bull free to roam inside 

the house where it was foreseeable that a business or social 



• 

invitee, such as Margaret, might access the premises and be 

injured. Complaint ~ 15 and ~ 16. (CP 3-4.) 

3. Negligent Entrustment, claiming Randall was negligent in 

entrusting the control of his premises to his brother, a person 

who was homeless and whose near constant companion was a 

pit-bull. Complaint ~ 17. (CP 4.) 

Randall moved for summary judgment solely on the theory that 

there were no issues of triable fact showing any negligence on the part of 

Randall. However, the defendant did not make any attempt to establish 

that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to whether Levi was 

acting with the scope of his employment for Randall when he left the 

premises to obtain more cleaning supplies without placing Jersey on a 

leash or otherwise restraining him. Nor did the motion make any attempt 

to establish that there were no facts upon which Plaintiff could prevail on 

her premises liability theory, i.e., that Randall knew or should have known 

of an unsafe condition on his premises (a pit bull) or that his agent, Levi, 

had himself created that unsafe condition. Randall's motion therefore did 

not comply with CR 56 and should have been denied on that reason. 

Randall's principal argument for summary judgment was that only the 

owner, keeper, or harborer of the pit bull could be held liable for 

Margaret's injuries and that because Randall did not own Jersey and did 

2 



• 

not specifically authorize Levi to bring Jersey to the premises, he could 

not be held liable under any theory. See Defendant's Motion for 

Summary Judgment (CP 44-51). The trial court granted summary 

judgment dismissing the claims against Randall with prejudice. It erred in 

doing so, in part because material issues of fact existed on those three 

theories of liability, and in part because Randall had not met his burden of 

proof of establishing there were no genuine issues of material fact on the 

"scope of employment" and "premises liability" allegations of Plaintiff s 

claims. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment where 
there were several viable legal theories of liability and where 
liability turned on disputed facts and Randall's credibility. 

Answer: Yes. CR 56 should not be used as a vehicle to deny a 
litigant their day in court where the culpability of the Respondent 
depends upon what he knew or reasonably should have known. 

2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment as to a 
specific legal theory (premises liability) that was properly plead 
where the moving party did not even attempt to establish that there 
were no facts upon which a reasonable jury could conclude that 
Randall knew or should have known of a dangerous condition on 
his premises, including one that was created by his agent Levi 
when he left his pit-bull unattended. 

Answer: Yes. Under CR 56 the moving party has the burden of 
establishing that there are no genuine issues of material fact in 
support of a particular legal theory before any burden shifts to the 
responding party. 

3. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on 
Margaret's respondeat superior theory where it was undisputed that 
Levi was employed by Randall and left the premises to get 
cleaning supplies but there were disputed facts as to whether Levi 
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was acting within the scope of his employment in bringing the 
guard dog Jersey onto the premises and leaving Jersey unattended 
in going on that errand? 

Answer: Yes. Randall, as employer, can be held liable for 
Margaret's injuries because there are genuine issues of material 
fact as to whether Levi was serving his master by leaving the guard 
dog to guard to premises while he left to obtain supplies to clean 
the townhouse. 

4. Assuming that the motion for summary judgment was 
directed to Margaret's premises liability theory, did the trial court 
err in granting summary judgment as to that theory where 
Randall's agent, Levi, created a unsafe condition on the premises 
by leaving Jersey unattended and unleashed when he went to get 
cleaning supplies? 

Answer: Yes: there are disputed facts as to whether Levi as an 
agent of Randall rendered Randall liable as the principal for 
injuries to a social invitee for Levi's creation of an unsafe 
condition on the premises. 

5. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on 
Margaret's negligent entrustment theory where it was undisputed 
that Randall turned control of the rented premises to his brother, 
Levi, knowing that he was homeless and likely to bring his pit bull 
with him to the premises when he cleaned the premises on 
Randall's behalf? 

Answer: Yes. Randall, was aware that his brother was homeless 
and that his brother was responsible for and usually had with him, 
his pit bull dog and thus there are genuine issues of material fact as 
to whether Randall was negligent in leaving the premises under his 
brother's control in such circumstances knowing that persons 
might be lawfully coming to the premises and thus that it was 
foreseeable that such persons might be injured. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Margaret Briscoe is the aunt of Victor Greer, although she raised 

him as her own son. CP 81, 84. In October 2007, Victor purchased a 

townhouse at 1924 14th Avenue South on Beacon Hill and lived in it until 

4 



taking a job in Los Angeles early in October 2008. CP 81, 84-85. Since 

the real estate market was so bad at that time, Victor agreed to rent the 

townhouse to his longtime friend, Appellant Randall Mc Williams. 

(hereafter Randall). CP 81, 85. They entered a month to month lease that 

began in March 2009, and prohibited pets. CP 85,93. Randall was aware 

that his brother, Defendant Leviticus McWilliams (hereafter "Levi") 

would come over on occasions and bring Jersey with him. CP 110, 111. 

Jersey could pretty much run free on the first (main) floor. CP 111-112, 

113. Jersey would be kept separated if there were other people around. 

CP 111. It was likely that Jersey had spent the night with Levi at the 

townhouse. CP 114. Randall knew that Jersey was a pit bull and that pit 

bulls are guard dogs. CP 92-93. 

In the spring of 2010, Victor decided he would try to sell the 

townhouse. CP 85. Victor listed the townhouse with a realty company 

and made Randall aware that realtors would bring prospective buyers to 

the townhouse and that a lockbox would be placed upon the front door to 

permit entry for that purpose. CP 85, 95. 

In late June or early July 2010, Randall notified Victor that he 

would be vacating the premises by July 15 2010. CP 85. By that time 

Randall had become slow on paying the rent, and was behind for June, so 

his moving out by July 15 was fine with Victor. CP 85. Victor would be 
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selling the townhouse as a short sale "as is". CP 85. He wanted Randall 

and Randall's property out, with the items Victor had left at the townhouse 

being left for Victor. CP 85. 

Randall hired his brother, Levi, to clean the townhouse and to 

remove Randall's property. CP 94. Randall was to pay Levi $300. 

CP 94-95. While Randall was in California, he paid Levi on Friday 

July 16, when he was advised by Levi that the job would be completed 

that night, by depositing the funds in defendant Elizabeth (Liz) Rowland's 

bank account. CP 95. On Friday, July 16, 2010, Randall was in Los 

Angeles and contacted Victor and told him that the premises had been 

vacated. CP 85-86, 99. Randall and Victor agreed that since Victor was 

out as of July 16, rent for that month would be $750 and Randall 

understood that the longer he was in the townhouse, the more rent he 

would have owed. CP 97. Although Randall told Victor that the premises 

were vacated he in fact knew that Levi had not finished and Randall 

anticipated that Levi would probably return to the premises to conclude 

cleaning, but the majority of the work was done. CP 96. 

Later that same day, Victor called Margaret to request that she go 

to the town house the next day (Saturday, July 17), to see if in fact Randall 

was moved out and if Victor's few possessions remained. CP 82, 86. 
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Margaret went to the property on the morning of July 17, 2010, 

and entered the front door of the townhouse and was immediately attacked 

by the pit bull guard dog Jersey which tore large chunks of tissue from 

each of her legs. CP 82. She spent 2Yz weeks in the Harborview Medical 

Burn Center being treated for those wounds including multiple skin graft 

surgeries. CP (Ibid). As of July 17, the townhouse was neither clean nor 

vacant as is depicted by the photographs taken by the police the day of the 

attack. CP 104-106. 

Jersey, the pit bull that attacked Margaret was owned by Randall's 

brother Levi and Liz, Levi's partner of six years and the mother of his 

child. CP 108, 114. Randall knew that Levi and Jersey were pretty much 

inseparable. CP 102, 114. Earlier in Randall's tenancy of the townhouse, 

Liz had performed contract work there for Randall five mornings a week 

and Levi would sometimes come over with Jersey and Randall had no rule 

against Jersey being there. CP 110, 111. Randall, when he heard of the 

attack on Margaret at the townhouse by a dog, immediately knew it must 

have been Jersey. CP 97-98. Randall and Levi were close, and, among 

other things, had lived together in Southwest Seattle along with Liz and 

Jersey. CP 92, 99, 108, 120-121. Randall and Levi had owned a business 

together, RDL Technical, LLC. CP 122. 
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In July 2010, Levi was homeless and staying on friends' couches 

and he had Jersey with him. CP 101. Levi claims to have spent only one 

night at the townhouse while he was doing the cleaning. CP 1 ° 1. Randall 

knew his brother was homeless. CP 87, 113. Randall knew that Jersey 

needed to be isolated when strangers were around. CP 90, 111. 

Randall and Liz testified that Levi left the dog there while Levi 

went to get some cleaning supplies. CP 98, 113. While Randall asserts 

that he did not grant Levi permission to bring the dog to the premises 

(CP 76), there is no evidence that he ever prohibited Levi from bringing 

the dog and as noted above he had allowed Levi to bring Jersey there. 

CP 110, 111. Levi testified that he relied upon what Randall told him for 

his belief that no one would be coming to the townhouse. CP 102. And 

Levi testified that if Randall had told him that someone might come over, 

Levi would have taken Jersey with him or would tied the dog up while he 

was out. CP 102-103. 

IV. SUMMARY OF PLEADINGS BELOW 

The Complaint was filed on April 18, 2011, and alleged as theories 

of liability against Randall the following: (l) two claims of negligence 

related to dangerous condition on the premises (Complaint ~ 15 and ~ 16, 

CP 3-4); (2) a claim of negligent entrustment of the premises (Complaint 

~ 17, CP 4); (3) agency liability alleging that Randall was responsible for 
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the acts of Levi, the agent he hired to clean the premises and remove his 

property (Complaint ~ 18, CP 4); (4) violation of the lease which 

prohibited pets from the premises (CP 4); and (5) third party beneficiary of 

the lease (CP 4). By order of the trial court on July 22, 2011, the court 

granted Randall's Motion to Dismiss as to third party beneficiary (and by 

implication violation of the lease) and denied the motion as to (1) 

negligence and (2) agency theories ofliability. CP 42-43. 

On March 13, 2012, Randall brought a motion for summary 

judgment which argued that there were no genuine issues of material fact 

on Margaret's negligence/agency theory. The motion did not specifically 

seek summary judgment on Margaret's theories of liability for premises 

liability or agency/respondeat superior that were clearly alleged in the 

Complaint. CP 44-51. It did not, for instance, argue that there were no 

genuine issues of material fact that Levi acted within the scope of his 

employment in leaving the premises to purchase cleaning supplies without 

restraining Jersey. Nor did the motion address Plaintiff's claim that 

Randall, as the person in control of the premises, was liable because he 

knew or should have known of an unsafe condition on the premises, nor 

that Levi, as Randall's sub-contractor and agent, had created that unsafe 

condition by leaving Jersey unrestrained. As such, the motion should have 

been denied without even requiring Margaret to respond. Despite failing 
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to meet his burden of proof under CR 56 and the controlling case law cited 

below, Randall was granted summary judgment against Margaret on all 

theories, including premises liability and respondeat superior. This was 

reversible error. 

V. FACTS AND INFERENCES 

The following are facts as set forth above and reasonable 

inferences therefrom that a jury could draw to find liability on Randall's 

part. 

FACT 

1. Randall hired Levi to clean 
the townhouse and to remove 
Randall's property while Randall 
was in California agreeing to pay 
Levi $300.00. CP 94-95. 

2. Randall had previously lived 
for 6-8 months with his brother 
Levi, Levi's longtime partner, Liz, 
and their pit bull, Jersey. CP 92. 
He was aware that Jersey was a pit 
bull, that pit bulls are guard dogs. 
CP 92-93. And he was aware that 
Jersey was not safe to be around 
persons the dog was not familiar 
with, and needed to be isolated from 
them. CP 90, 109. Randall was 
aware in July 2010 that his brother, 
Levi, was homeless, unemployed, 
staying on friends' couches and 
Jersey was with him. CP 87, 94, 
101, 113. Levi had a history of not 
holding jobs. CP 87. Randall was 

10 

REASONABLE INFERENCE 

Levi was employed by Randall at 
the premises and was acting as the 
agent/employee of Randall while 
working at the premises. 

Randall gave Levi, a person of 
questionable trustworthiness, 
access and free reIgn to the 
townhouse while Randall was 
gomg to be out of town m 
California knowing that Levi 
needed a place to stay and without 
regard to the possibility that Jersey, 
the pit bull dog, was likely to be 
with him. 



also aware that where Levi went, 
Jersey likely went. CP 87, 102, 
114. And Randall had allowed Levi 
and Jersey to be at the townhouse 
despite pets being prohibited. CP 
110, 111-113. Levi with Jersey had 
stayed at least one night while he 
was working for Randall to clean 
the premises. CP 101. 

3. Randall would owe more rent 
the longer he was in the premises 
and he told Victor that he had 
vacated as of the evening of July 16. 
CP 93-94, 97. Yet he testified that 
Levi was still working there and 
completion on July 16 was an 
assumption on his part and that he 
thought it likely that Levi would 
have to go back to the premises. CP 
96,99. 

4. Randall told Victor on 
July 16, 2010, that he had cleared 
out of the townhouse. CP 85-86, 
97, 99. Yet Randall knew that Levi 
might well go back for cleaning 
supplies. CP 96. 

5. Randall led Levi to believe 
that while he was working there 
cleaning, no one would be coming 
to the property. CP 102. Had he 
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It was III Randall's monetary 
interest to lead Victor to believe he 
was out of the premises sooner 
rather than later. Thus, Randall 
should have confirmed that his 
brother, Levi, had completed the 
job before he reported to Victor 
that the premises would be vacated 
the night of July 16,2010. Had he 
checked with Levi he would have 
known that in fact the premises 
were not vacated that night and he 
could have so advised Victor who 
would not have requested Margaret 
to go and check on the premises 
the next day. 
In reliance upon the information 
provided by Randall on July 16, 
there was no reason for Victor to 
believe or even suspect that 
anyone, much less a pit bull, would 
be at his townhouse when he asked 
Margaret, his aunt, to go over the 
next day and see if in fact the 
premises had been vacated and his 
property left for him. Likewise, 
there was no reason for Victor or 
Margaret to give any notice that 
Margaret would be coming to the 
premises on July 17, since both 
expected the premises to be vacant. 

It was clearly forseeable to Randall 
that persons might come to the 
property was still for sale and 
accessible via the lockbox and he 



been advised that there might be 
people coming, Levi would have 
either made other arrangements for 
Jersey or kept him tied up. CP 103. 

6. On July 17, Levi needed 
cleaning supplies to complete the 
job, and left to get them leaving his 
pit bull Jersey at the townhouse. CP 
98, 113. Jersey was a guard dog 
and would be expected to protect 
the property from persons he did not 
know. CP 92-93. 

7. A person, the Appellant, 
came to the property lawfully on 
July 17, and was viciously attacked 
by Jersey. CP 82. She was invited 
to come on to the premises by the 
owner to inspect after Randy told 
the owner the premIses were 
vacated. CP 84-86. 

8. Randall knew immediately 
when he learned of the dog attack 
on Margaret at the premises that it 
must have been done by Jersey. 
CP 97-98. 

especially could have foreseen that 
Victor might send someone to 
check on the premIses once 
Randall reported to Victor that 
they were vacated. 

By leaving to obtain supplies, and 
by leaving a guard dog on the 
premises, Levi was acting in the 
interests of his employer Randall. 
He also created an unsafe 
condition on those premises as 
Randall's sub-contractor and agent. 

Even if Levi had been at the 
townhouse when Margaret came, 
she would have let herself in 
thinking no one was there because 
Randall had reported the premises 
as vacated and it is fair to conclude 
that she would have still been 
attacked by Jersey. 

It was no surprise to Randall that 
Jersey was the dog that attacked 
Margaret at the premises because 
he knew that "where Levi went, 
Jersey went." So it was 
foreseeable to Randall that Jersey 
would be accompanying Levi 
when he was working for Randall 
at the premises. 

These are not the only facts of importance to this Court's review 

nor are these the only inferences that a jury could reasonably draw that 

would allow for a jury verdict for Margaret. But as noted in the 

Argument, immediately below, where the credibility of the party 

motioning for summary judgment, here Randall, is of ultimate importance 
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in determining his culpability or non-culpability, that decision is best left 

for a jury. Here not only is Randall's credibility at issue, but the 

undisputed fact of Levi's employment by Randall, the fact he left to 

obtaining supplies, and the fact he left Jersey unrestrained and thus created 

an unsafe condition on the premises, fully support the liability of Randall. 

The trial court erred in deciding these factual issues itself rather than 

allowing this evidence to go to the jury. 

stated: 

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Respondent Failed to Meet His Burden of Establishing 
He is Entitled to Summary Judgment. (Assignment #1) 

In Riley v. Andres, 107 Wn.App. 391,27 P.3d 618 (2001) the court 

We review a summary judgment de novo, engaging in the same 
inquiry as the trial court. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wash.2d 434, 
437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Summary judgment is appropriate 
when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party 
is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Wilson, 98 
Wash. 2d at 437, 656 P.2d 1030. We construe the facts and all 
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving 
party. Wilson, 98 Wash. 2d at 437, 656 P.2d 1030. And where 
material facts are particularly within the knowledge of the moving 
party, courts have been reluctant to grant summary judgment. See 
Michigan Nat. Bank v. Olson, 44 Wash.App. 898, 905, 723 P.2d 
438 (1986). In such cases, "it is advisable that the cause proceed to 
trial in order that the opponent may be allowed to disprove such 
facts by cross-examination and by the demeanor of the moving 
party while testifying." Olson, 44 Wash.App. at 905, 723 P.2d 438 
(quoting Felsman v. Kessler, 2 Wash.App. 493, 496-97, 468 P.2d 
691 (1970». (Emphasis added.) 
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In the instant case, the credibility of Randall McWilliams as to

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