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

the motion was made on the ground that none of those theories applies. 

For that reason alone, this court should affirm. But in the event 

Washington law on liability for dog bites could theoretically be expanded, 

summary judgment under the undisputed facts in this case must still be 

affirmed. This court may affirm on any ground. Skinner v. Holgate, 141 

Wn. App. 840, 849, 173 P.3d 300 (2007). 

5 The defendants in Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216,225,770 P.2d 
182 (1989), moved for summary judgment on statute of limitation grounds, but also 
presented evidence on the merits as an alternative ground. The Washington Supreme 
Court did not rule on whether such evidence was required to affirm. 
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1. Randy McWilliams Cannot Be Liable Under an Agency 
Liability Theory. 

Plaintiff claims that because Randy hired his brother, Levi, to clean 

his apartment, Levi was Randy's agent, and Randy is therefore liable for 

the dog bite. There is no evidence that by by hiring Levi, Randy somehow 

made Levi his agent, as opposed to an independent contractor. 6 One who 

retains an independent contractor is generally not liable for that 

contractor's negligence. Rogers v. Irving, 85 Wn. App 455, 464, 933 P.2d 

1060 (1997). 

Even assuming Levi was Randy's agent, it was for the sole purpose 

of cleaning the apartment. There is no evidence that Randy hired or 

otherwise authorized Levi to bring his dog, let alone to leave it in the 

apartment unleashed and unmuzzled when Levi left to run an errand. 

There is no dispute that Randy did not even know the dog was there. 

Further, it would never occur to any reasonable person that a person hired 

to clean an apartment would bring a dog. 7 

6 Liz Rowland, Levi's girlfriend, testified that "as far as I know" Levi was working under 
Randy's direction." (CP 112). Testimony made on the basis of "as far as I know" is 
insufficient to defeat summary judgment. Shindler v. Mid-Continent Life Ins. Co., 768 
S.W.2d 331, 334 (Tex. App. 1989). 

7Citing CP 97-98, plaintiff claims that when Randy learned of the dog attack he 
"immediately" knew it must have been Levi's dog, Jersey. (Appellant's Amended 
Opening Brief 12) That is not correct What Randy really said was this (CP 97-98): 
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A master is not liable when "the servant 'steps aside from the 

master's business in order to effect some purpose of his own ... '" Bratton 

v. Calkins, 73 Wn. App. 492, 498, 870 P.2d 981 (1994) (quoting Kuehn v. 

White , 24 Wn. App. 274, 277, 600 P.2d 679 (1979)), rev. denied, 124 

Wn.2d 1029 (1994). A tort committed by an agent, while engaged in the 

principal's employment, cannot be charged to the principal so long as it 

emanated from a wholly personal motive and was done solely to gratify 

the personal objectives or desires of the agent. Thompson v. Everett 

Clinic, 71 Wn. App. 548, 553, 860 P.2d 1054 (1993), rev. denied, 123 

Wn.2d 1027 (1994). Levi's bringing the dog and leaving it to run around 

the apartment emanated from a wholly personal motive to gratify Levi's 

personal desires. 

At most, Randy's hiring Levi to clean his apartment merely 

resulted in a physical environment in which Levi's wrongful acts-of 

A. . . . And he [the landlord] told me, Hey, man, Mom got bit by a 
dog. 

Oh, wow. Really? And I'm like, is she going to be okay? He's 
like, Dude, got bit at your house. And I'm like, What? And he tells me, 
Yeah, she went over there in the morning and, you know, opened up 
the door, and dog bit her. 

Q. Did he say which dog? 

A. He said - he had got - he had talked to her, and it was a light 
tan dog. And then first thing that went through my head was like, Oh, 
who could that be? And I'm thinking, Don't tell me it is Jersey. And 
he's like, Yeah, I think it was Jersey. 

(Emphasis added.) 

16 



which Randy had no knowledge - could take place. Kuehn v. White, 24 

Wn. App. 274, 600 P.2d 679 (1979), demonstrates that where the 

employment situation does nothing more than provide the opportunity for 

the agent's wrongful acts or the means of carrying them out, the principal 

is not liable. 

In Kuehn an employee was driving his employer's truck in the 

course of employment when he got angry at another motorist. In a fit of 

road rage, the employee attacked the other motorist. Affirming summary 

judgment for the employer, this court explained that when an employee's 

intentionally tortious or criminal acts are not performed in furtherance of 

the employer's business, the employer will not be liable as a matter of law, 

even though the employment situation provided the opportunity for the 

employee's wrongful acts or the means for carrying them out. 24 Wn. 

App. at 278. 

This case does not involve an intentional tort. But the reasoning is 

the same. The alleged employment situation merely provided the 

opportunity for Levi's wrongful acts or the means for carrying them out, 

nothing more. Randy should not be liable as a matter of law. 

Dickson v. Graham-Jones Paper Co., 84 So.2d 309 (Fla. 1955), 

and Hackett v. Dayton Hudson Corp., 191 Ga. App. 442, 382 S.E.2d 180 

(1989), provide a helpful comparison. In Dickson, unbeknownst to the 
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defendant employer, defendant's manager kept a "fighting cock" at work. 

The cock attacked a business invitee. Affirming judgment on the 

pleadings for the defendant employer, the court explained: 

It is inconceivable to this Court how keeping a "fighting 
cock" is in the furtherance of the corporation business .... 
Certainly the corporation did not own the cock, nor was it 
engaged in such a business as promoting "fighting 
cocks." ... 

Knowledge of the owner of the viciousness of an animal is 
not imputable to anyone else, especially his employer, 
unless the employer directed the employee to do the 
specific act of keeping the animal, or unless it was 
reasonably foreseeable as a result of his authority as the 
agent. To hold otherwise would be to make every 
corporation an insurer of the actions of its employees. 

84 So.2d at 31 0 (emphasis added). 

In Hackett defendant employer's general manager brought his dog 

to work because he was having construction done at his home. He chained 

the dog outside his workplace. Defendant employer had no knowledge the 

dog was there. The dog bit a business invitee. 

Affirming summary judgment for the defendant employer, the 

court explained: 

The uncontroverted evidence is that the alleged negligence 
of defendant [employee] was not done within the scope and 
course of his employment. Defendant [employee] was not 
acting to further the business of his employer, but to further 
his own personal and private needs. Under these 
circumstances the corporate defendant is not liable for its 
employees' acts. 
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382 S. E. 2d at 181. 

Just as in Dickson and Hackett, Levi brought the dog to Randy's 

apartment for his own personal convenience. Like the employers in those 

cases, Randy was unaware the dog was there. It was not reasonably 

foreseeable that Levi would bring the dog as a result of any authority that 

he had as Randy's agent (assuming arguendo that he was Randy's agent) 

to clean the apartment. See Dickson, 84 So.2d at 310. Levi was not acting 

to further the interests of Randy, but to further his own personal and 

private needs. Randy is not liable for the dog attack. 

That Levi's errand may have been within the scope of his authority 

to clean Randy's apartment does not convert his bringing or leaving the 

dog into an act within the scope of his authority or in furtherance of 

Randy's interest. Croley v. Moon Enterprises, Inc., 118 Ohio Misc. 2d 

151, 770 N. E.2d 148 (2001), is illustrative. 

In Croley defendant employer's bookkeeper brought her dogs to 

work so she could take them to the veterinarian later. While the 

bookkeeper was on the telephone, one of the dogs bit a business invitee 

entering the bookkeeper's office. Affirming summary judgment for the 

defendant employer, the court explained: 

As to the vicarious-liability theory, an employee acts within 
the scope of her employment only when she acts for the 
employer, and acts to further the employer's business ... . 
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[The bookkeeper/dog owner] admitted that she was 
engaged in the scope of her business at the time [her dog] 
bit [plaintiff] .. .. At that time, [the bookkeeper/dog owner] 
was talking on the telephone for her employer .... 
However, there is also no dispute that [the dog's] presence 
on the MEl premises was outside the scope of [the 
bookkeeper/dog owner's] employment because it was for 
[her] convenience and not for the benefit of MEl's business. 
Thus, while [the bookkeeper/dog owner] was furthering 
MEl's business (on the telephone) when (plaintiff) was at 
the door of the trailer, the court finds that reasonable 
minds could only conclude that, as to [the dog's] presence 
and attack on [plaintifD, [the bookkeeper/dog owner] was 
operating outside the scope of her employment. Thus, 
MEl is not liable ... by virtue of vicarious liability. 

770 N.E.2d at 152 (emphasis added). 

This case is like Croley. As with the bookkeeper, the presence of 

Levi's dog on the premises was for Levi's personal convenience only and 

was outside the scope of his alleged agency, not for Randy's benefit. 

Although Levi may have been acting within the scope of his alleged 

agency when he went on his errand, Levi was operating outside the scope 

of his alleged agency as to the dog's presence and attack on plaintiff. 

Plaintiffs attempt to analogize to cases in which an unauthorized 

act is done in conjunction with authorized acts, or when the agent has dual 

motives or is combining his own personal business with his principal's 

business, must fail. None involved the situation here, where the alleged 

agent, without the alleged principal's knowledge, brings the sole 
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instrumentality of the Injury to the jobsite, even though that 

instrumentality has absolutely nothing to do with the job.8 

Indeed, section 239 of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY 

provides: 

A master is not liable for injuries caused by the negligence 
of a servant in the use of an instrumentality which if of a 
substantially different kind from that authorized as a means 
of performing the master's service, or over the use of which 
it is understood that the master is to have no right of 
control. 

See also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 240 (master may be liable 

if he entrusted servant with an instrumentality that servant left somewhere 

while within scope of employment). Here, the instrumentality - the dog -

was not even a means of performing the job that Randy had hired Levi to a 

do, and Randy certainly did not entrust the dog to Levi. Randy simply 

could not be liable under agency principles. 

Citing Rahman v. State, 170 Wn.2d 810, 246 P .3d 182 (2011), 

plaintiff asserts that Randy should have told Levi not to bring the dog.9 

8 See Smith v. Leber, 34 Wn.2d 611, 209 P.2d 297 (1949) Gury could find former 
employee's returning employer's rented truck was within the scope of authority); Leuthold 
v. Goodman, 22 Wn.2d 583, 157 P.2d 326 (1945) (employee's short deviation using 
employer's vehicle while on employer's errand did not defeat vicarious liability); cf 
Breedlove v. Stout, 104 Wn. App. 67, 14 P.3d 897 (2001) (employee not within scope of 
employment as a matter of law when he returned to work to retrieve work-related manual 
without employer's knowledge or control); Strachan v. Kitsap County, 27 Wn . App. 271 , 
616 P.2d 1251 (1980) Gury could find that off-duty city police officer was County's agent 
while assisting County deputy sheriff in performing County police duties) . 
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(Appellate's Amended Opening Brief 24-25) But Rahman does not 

support plaintiffs position. There, a state employee took his wife along on 

a business trip in a state-owned car, even though the state agency 

employer forbade unauthorized passengers. The couple was involved in 

an accident while the husband was driving. The wife sought to hold the 

state vicariously liable for her husband's negligence. 

The Washington Supreme Court ruled the husband employee was 

acting within the scope of his employment at the time of the accident. The 

Court explained: 

... The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that [the 
husband] was acting within the scope of his employment at 
the time of the automobile accident that injured [his wife]. 
Though he combined his own business with the State's by 
allowing [her] to ride along as a passenger, the trip and the 
route taken were dictated by official state business, and 
there is no evidence that {the wife's] presence in any way 
contributed to the accident. 

170 Wn.2d at 817 (emphasis added). 

Unlike in Rahman, the unauthorized being here, the dog, was the 

very thing that caused the injury. And unlike the employer-owned car in 

Rahman, the dog - which was not owned by Randy - had nothing 

whatsoever to do with Levi's alleged employment. 

9Plaintiff also says that if Randy had done this, he still would have been liable. 
(Appellant's Amended Opening Brief24-26) Plaintiff cannot have it both ways . 
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Plaintiffs citation to McNew v. Puget Sound Pulp & Timber Co., 

37 Wn.2d 495, 224 P.2d 627 (1950), is puzzling. In McNew the head cook 

of a logging camp drove home to visit his family every other weekend. 

On one such trip, he bought supplies for the camp on the way. He was 

involved in an accident while returning from his family visit to the camp. 

The trial court dismissed the logging camp owner. The 

Washington Supreme Court affirmed, explaining: 

... Nelson made this particular journey to serve his own 
purpose, namely, to visit his family, and ... the accident in 
which he became involved was wholly unrelated to the 
purchase and transportation of the supplies for the camp. 
.... It is our opinion that at the time of the accident. Nelson 
was on a journey of his own, and what he had done or was 
doing to accommodate his employer was not done in the 
course of or scope of his employment as head cook. 

37 Wn.2d at 499-500 (emphasis added). As in McNew, the dog attack 

here was wholly unrelated to Levi's job cleaning the apartment. McNew 

supports Randy's position, not plaintiffs. 

Plaintiffs reliance on VollendorjJv. United States, 951 F.2d 215 

(9th Cir. 1991), is misplaced. In that case, the Army required an army 

officer to take chloroquine. His granddaughter was permanently and 

severely injured when she got into his chloroquine bottle on the kitchen 

counter of his home. The Court of Appeals ruled the Army could be 

vicariously liable because it required the chloroquine for its own concerns, 
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and the drug's storage was merely incidental to that requirement. 951 F.2d 

at 218-19. In other words, usage and storage of the instrumentality that 

caused the injury were within the scope of the grandfather's employment. 

Here, in contrast, Randy did not order or otherwise authorize Levi 

to bring his dog to Randy's apartment when Levi came to clean it. The 

dog's presence was not in furtherance of Randy's interest. Nor was leaving 

the dog while Levi went out on an errand. 

Plaintiffs claim that the dog's presence furthered Randy's interests 

because it was a guard dog has absolutely no basis in fact. Nothing in the 

record, explicitly or implicitly, suggests that Randy had any concern about 

the security of his apartment, or even that Levi had brought the dog for 

security reasons. Conclusory allegations are insufficient to defeat 

summary judgment. Kirkland v. Department of Revenue, 45 Wn. App. 

720, 724, 727 P.2d 254 (1986). That Randy might have benefited in the 

unlikely event that a burglar had tried to get into his apartment is 

insufficient. Cf Breedlove v. Stout, 104 Wn. App. 67, 72, 14 P.3d 897 

(2001) (that employer might have ultimately benefited by employee's 

voluntary return to workplace while driving home to pick up work-related 

material insufficient to impose vicarious liability). 

Plaintiffs attempt to equate the dog with an open pit, construction 

equipment, or some other instrumentality rendering the premises unsafe 
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must fail. (Appellant's Amended Opening Brief 20-21) Such conditions 

are not subject to the Washington rule on dog bite liability. See Frobig, 

124 Wn.2d at 737; Clemmons, 58 Wn. App. at 34-35. And, unlike an open 

pit, construction equipment, or some other instrumentality that would 

render the premises unsafe, Levi brought his own dog to the premises 

without Randy's knowledge or consent. Further, the dog had nothing to do 

with the job for which Levi was retained. 

Plaintiff tries to shoehorn this case into her agency theory by 

arguing that Randy misinformed the landlord when the house would be 

vacated. Randy's misrepresentation was based on Levi's assuring his 

brother that he would be done the evening of July 16. 10 Plaintiff claims 

Levi's erroneous assurance was made within the scope of his authority. 

There are at least two flaws with this argument. First, even though 

the date Randy gave the landlord ultimately proved to be wrong, this 

would have been harmless had Levi not brought his dog to the apartment. 

Bringing the dog and leaving it there had nothing to do with Levi's job to 

clean the apartment. 

10 Plaintiff's implying that Randy deliberately misrepresented the completion time to 
avoid paying more rent is based on sheer speculation .

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